IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1417 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 5D05-651

O'KEEFE ARCHITECTS, INC.

Petitioner,

V.

<u>CED CONSTRUCTION</u> PARTNERS, LTD., ET AL.

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

On Certification of Conflict by the Fifth District Court of Appeal

LEE L. HAAS, ESQUIRE

FBN 378119

Haas & Castillo, P.A. Arbor Shoreline Office Park 19321-C U.S. 19 North, Suite 401

Clearwater, FL 33764
Telephone: 727-535-4544
Telefax: 727-535-1855
Counsel for Petitioner

DEBORAH A. GIBSON, ESQUIRE FBN 826995 The Marks Law Firm, P.A. 605 East Robinson Street, Ste 510 Orlando Florida 32801-2045 Telephone: 407-872-3161

Facsimile: 407-872-3211 Co-Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Because this is a discretionary proceeding pursuant to Rule 9.120, Fla.R.App.P., the record will be transmitted after Petitioner's initial brief on the merits is served. The facts referred to herein are not in dispute, and are supported by the documents and pleadings attached in the Appendix in accordance with Rules 9.120(f) and 9.220, Fla.R.App.P.

This case involves claims arising from two standard-form AIA agreements entered into between an architect, O'Keefe Architects, Inc. (hereinafter, "O'Keefe") and two owners, Vero Club Partners, Ltd., and Clearwater Phase I Partners, Ltd. On August 30, 1997, O'Keefe signed a contract with Vero Club Partners, Ltd. (hereinafter, "Vero Club") for the construction of a 184-unit senior housing project (hereinafter, "Vero Project"). A copy of the agreement between O'Keefe and Vero Club is attached as Exhibit "A" to Appendix 7. On January 7, 1999, O'Keefe entered into a virtually identical agreement with Clearwater Phase I Partners Ltd. (hereinafter, "Phase I") to construct a 240-unit senior housing project to be located in Clearwater, Florida (hereinafter, "Renaissance Project"). A copy of the agreement between O'Keefe and Phase I is attached as Exhibit B to Appendix 7.

A certificate of substantial completion was issued for the Vero Project on June 2, 2000. The Renaissance Project was substantially completed in February 2001.

Both contracts forbid consolidation of arbitrations and assignment of claims.

The precise language in the contracts is set forth below:

7.3 No arbitration arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall include, by consolidation, joinder or in any other manner, an additional person or entity not a party to this Agreement, except by written consent containing a specific reference to this Agreement signed by the Owner, Architect, and any other person or entity sought to be joined. Consent to arbitration involving an additional person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute, or other matter in question not described in the written consent or with a person or entity not named or described therein. The foregoing agreement to arbitrate and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional person or entity duly consented to by the parties to this Agreement shall be specifically enforceable in accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

* * *

9.5 The Owner and Architect, respectively, bind themselves, their partners, successors, assigns and legal representatives to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, successors, assigns and legal representatives of such other party with respect to all covenants of this Agreement. Neither Owner nor Architect shall assign this Agreement without the written consent of the other.

* * *

9.7 Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual relationship with or a cause of action in favor of a third party against either the Owner or Architect.

Despite the prohibition on assignment in both agreements, Vero Club and Phase I assigned their contract rights on both projects to the general contractor on both projects, CED Construction Partners, Ltd. (hereinafter, "CED") (Exhibit B to Appendix 8). On the same date the assignments were made, CED, on its own behalf and as assignee of the owners, filed a demand for arbitration against O'Keefe and several subcontractors (Appendix 1) with the American Arbitration Association (hereinafter, "AAA") for damages purportedly arising from the negligent design and construction of both projects. Not only did the assignments violate the contracts, but the inclusion of subcontractors in the arbitration violated the non-consolidation clauses of both agreements. O'Keefe objected to arbitrating with CED, as assignee of the owners, in a single arbitration with other subcontractors.

On April 25, 2003, CED informed the AAA that it should assign a second, separate case number for the Vero Project (one case for each project) and that two panels should hear the cases because "the projects are very dissimilar with regard to types and quality of construction, subcontractors and suppliers used, as well as determination and allocation of damages." (Appendix 2) The AAA failed to act upon CED's request. After a telephonic hearing was conducted on January 12,

¹CED is a closely related entity to Vero Club and Phase I (Appendix 7 at Para. 33).

2004, on O'Keefe's objection to a consolidated hearing with CED as assignee of the owners and before the arbitrators announced their ruling, on January 14, 2004, CED again requested separate cases with separate panels, informing the AAA that it had reassigned the claims back to the owners, Vero Club and Phase I (Appendix 3). However, neither owner filed a demand for arbitration or appeared in the single arbitration case filed by CED, which raises the issue whether CED had (or has) standing to litigate or arbitrate the owners' claims under the contracts.

As a result of the January 12, 2004 hearing, the arbitrators entered an order directing separate hearings for: (i) the claims between the owners and O'Keefe and (ii) the claims between the owners and various subcontractors. The same panel of arbitrators, however, was slated to hear the claims on both projects (Appendix 4).

Both standard-form agreements contain identical provisions directing the parties to Florida law (the situs of the construction) for resolution of all statutes of limitations issues. Specifically, the contracts read:

7.2 A demand for arbitration shall be made within a reasonable time after the claim, dispute or other matter in question has arisen. In no event shall the demand for arbitration be made after the date when institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on such claim, dispute or other matter in question would be barred by the applicable statutes of limitations.

The AAA scheduled a hearing on February 12, 2004, to consider the appropriate statute of limitations to apply to claims against O'Keefe. Over

O'Keefe's objections, the AAA ruled that the claims were governed by \$95.11(3)(c), Florida's four-year statute of limitations for construction claims against it, despite the more appropriate two-year statute of limitations contained in \$95.11(4)(a) (two-year statute of limitations for negligence claims against professionals, such as architects). Additionally, the AAA ruled that the owners' assignment of claims for damages to CED, as well as the right to enforce the arbitration provisions, was permissible despite the express contractual prohibition. Lastly, the AAA ruled that it would hold separate hearings on each project, but the same panel would render decisions in both. (Appendix 5).

On March 23, 2004, CED, on its own behalf and as assignee of the owner, subsequently served an amended demand for arbitration for the Vero Project, adding additional subcontractors as respondents (Appendix 6). CED did not amend its demand against O'Keefe concerning the Renaissance Project.

O'Keefe filed suit in the Ninth Circuit seeking to enjoin the arbitrations, as filed, and seeking specific performance of the arbitration agreements in the contracts (Appendix 7). Defendants CED, Vero Club, and Phase I moved to stay the litigation and sought to compel arbitration between O'Keefe and CED, or alternatively between O'Keefe and Vero Club and Phase I (Appendix 8), although neither has appeared or attempted to intervene in the arbitration case.

On August 30, 2004, the trial court conducted a non-evidentiary hearing on CED's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration. (A copy of the hearing transcript is attached as Appendix 9). When the parties were unable to agree as to the content of the order, the court scheduled an additional hearing for January 6, 2005.

Prior to the second hearing, O'Keefe filed with the trial court December 16, 2004 correspondence from CED's counsel to AAA, in which CED reversed its prior position and consented to one arbitration panel deciding both arbitration cases, stating "the projects are strikingly similar" and "the similarities of the parties and the projects has always warranted the assignment of a single panel," and acknowledging that "[e]ffectively, the AAA has consolidated the two cases involving CED and O'Keefe." (Appendix 10)

At the second hearing on January 6, 2005, the trial court heard additional argument but did not conduct an evidentiary hearing. (A copy of the hearing transcript is attached as Appendix 11.). The trial court entered an order (Appendix 12) compelling arbitration and staying prosecution of O'Keefe's claims for contribution against CED, as the general contractor on the Vero Project and the Renaissance Project, despite the fact that these claims were not arbitrable in that no contract existed between O'Keefe and CED.

O'Keefe appealed the lower court's non-final order compelling arbitration and staying the case filed in circuit court to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court's ruling in all respects in a per curiam opinion (Appendix 13).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no doubt as to what O'Keefe and the owners agreed to regarding the scope of arbitration. The contracts contain in their arbitration clauses specific prohibitions on consolidation and assignment, absent written consent of both parties, as well as a bar to arbitration of time-barred claims. The arbitration agreements expressly limited the scope of arbitrable claims to include only those which were not time-barred. The contracts do not expressly authorize the arbitrators to rule on the statute of limitations issues, nor do they authorize the arbitrators to determine the arbitrability of the dispute.

The trial court erred in not staying arbitration proceedings that directly violated the arbitration agreements. In its ruling, the trial court failed to address United States and Florida Supreme Court precedent cited by O'Keefe. In affirming the trial court's ruling in all respects, the Fifth District Court of Appeal likewise erred by not enforcing the contracts and failing to consider the United States and Florida Supreme Court precedent holding that a party cannot be compelled to arbitrate in any manner inconsistent with its arbitration agreements.

The applicable standard of review as to all issues in this Appeal is *de novo* review. Avid Engineering, Inc. v. Orlando Marketplace, Ltd., 809 So.2d 1 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001); Tropical Ford, Inc. v. Major, 882 So.2d 476 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). Furthermore, the determination of whether an issue is subject to arbitration is a matter of contract interpretation, and appellate review on that issue is also *de novo*.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY COMPELLING O'KEEFE TO ARBITRATE MATTERS IT DID NOT AGREE TO ARBITRATE.

In First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938 (1995), the United States Supreme Court ruled that determination as to whether a claim was to be arbitrated (the issue of "arbitrability") would be made by a court unless the arbitration agreement expressly provided for an arbitral determination. "Arbitration is simply a matter of contract between the parties; it is a way to resolve those disputes - but only those disputes - that the parties have agreed to submit to arbitration." Id. at 943. This general principle was followed by the Fifth District in Seretta Construction, Inc. v. Great American Ins. Co., 869 So.2d 676 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004).

Arbitration . . . is a matter of consent, not coercion, and parties are generally free to structure their arbitration agreements as they see fit. Just as they may limit by contract the issues which they will arbitrate . . . so too may they specify by contract the rules under which the arbitration will be conducted. (Citation omitted.)

Id. at 680.

Interestingly, in reversing the trial court's order granting consolidation of arbitrations, the Fifth District cited many U.S. Supreme Court cases concerning arbitration, but not First Options.

In Seifert v. U.S. Home Corporation, 750 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1999), the Florida Supreme Court ruled that both state and federal arbitration laws require courts to consider three factors when ruling on a motion to compel arbitration: "1) whether a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists; (2) whether an arbitrable issue exists; and (3) whether the right to arbitration was waived." Id. at 636. Although not cited by the Fifth District in this case, the Seifert three-part test has been used by the Fifth District in ruling on motions to compel arbitration. See Presidential Leasing, Inc., v. Krout, 896 So.2d 938, 941-942 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005)(motion to compel arbitration denied because the purchase/sale agreement for a used car contained an unconscionable attorney fee provision which "frustrated" the statutory purposes of the Florida Deceptive Trade Practices Act."); Florida Power Corporation v. City of Casselberry, 793 So.2d 1174, 1178 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001)(motion to compel arbitration to determine valuation of a purchase price granted).

The trial court and the Fifth District failed to consider the implications of Seifert in ruling on CED's Motion to Compel. Neither the trial court's order granting CED's motion to compel nor the Fifth District's affirmance reflect any consideration of the Seifert three-part test. Had either court undertaken such an inquiry, it would have had to deny CED's motion to compel arbitration because: (i) the contracts expressly prohibit consolidation and assignment, and (ii) the

arbitration agreements do not expressly authorize the arbitrators to rule on statutes of limitation defenses. Because the arbitration agreements expressly reference statutes of limitations, it is clear that the parties did not intend to arbitrate timebarred claims.

Seifert was ignored by the trial court and the appellate court despite the fact that it establishes the standard for ruling on motions to compel arbitration. Since 1999, nearly every district court of appeal in Florida has ruled that courts are to determine arbitrability unless the arbitration clause authorizes arbitrators to do so. Curtis v. Olson, 837 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (following Seifert); Premier Medical Management, Ltd. v. Salas, 830 So.2d 959 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) (following First Options); Romano v. Goodlette Office Park, Ltd., 700 So.2d 62 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) (predating Seifert but following First Options); Rintin Corporation v. Domar, Ltd., 766 So.2d 407 (Fla. 2000) (citing First Options as basis for upholding arbitrators' authority to determine arbitrability because contract expressly cited to Florida International Arbitration Act (682.01-.35, Fla. Stat.), which contains a provision directing arbitrators to determine arbitrability); CitiGroup v. Amodio, 894 So.2d 296, 299 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) (citing Seifert and First Options in sustaining trial court's denial of a motion to compel arbitration of Blue Sky law violation claims where arbitration clause was narrowly drawn to provide for arbitration only if the claim involved the "construction, performance or

breach of [the] account agreement"); <u>Royal Professional Builders, Inc. v. Roggin</u>, 853 So.2d 520 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) (citing Seifert); <u>K. W. Brown and Co. v. McCutchen</u>, 819 So.2d 977 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (citing <u>Seifert</u> and <u>First Options</u>).

The determination of whether an agreement to arbitrate requires arbitration of a particular dispute rests upon the intent of the parties. Florida Power Corporation v. City of Casselberry, 793 So.2d 1174, 1178 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). In determining the intent of the parties, a court should consider the language in the contract, the subject matter of the contract, and the object and purpose of the contract. Huntington on the Green Condominium v. Lemon Tree Condominium I, 874 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). If there is any ambiguity in an arbitration provision, it should be construed against arbitration. Wood-Hopkins Contracting Company v. C.H. Barco Contracting Company, Inc., 301 So.2d 479, 480 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).

Instead of relying on <u>Seifert</u> in this case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal cited three cases: <u>CED Constr. v. Kaiser-Taulbee Associates, Inc.</u>, 816 So.2d 813 (5th DCA 2002); <u>Pembroke Indust. Park P'ship v. Jazayri Constr., Inc.</u>, 682 So.2d 226 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) and <u>Alderman v. City of Jacksonville Fire & Rescue Division</u>, 902 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). In <u>CED v. Kaiser-Taulbee</u>, the trial court had ruled that a court, not arbitrators, was to resolve a statute of limitations issue. The Fifth District reversed, without mentioning <u>Seifert</u> or <u>First Options</u>.

The decisions in <u>Pembroke Indust. Park P'ship</u> and <u>Alderman</u> are inapposite, because they concern questions of timeliness rather than imposition of a statute of limitations. Determining the timeliness of a claim (a waiver, estoppel, or laches issue) is not the same as determining whether a claim is time-barred under a statute of limitations, despite what the Fifth District has stated in this case. Compare <u>First Options</u> with <u>Howsam v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.</u>, 537 U.S. 79 (2002) (same justices who decided <u>First Options</u> held in <u>Howsam</u> that arbitrators determine timely compliance with an arbitration rule of procedure).

Pembroke Indus. Park P'ship did not involve a statute of limitations issue. The arbitration agreement in that case did not, as the arbitration clause in the present case does, specifically refer to statutes of limitation or preclude time-barred claims from arbitration. Instead, the arbitration agreement merely provided that demand be "made within a reasonable time after the dispute had arisen." Thus, the contract authorized an arbitrator to determine whether the claims were filed within a reasonable period of time, without regard to any statutes of limitation.

The First District's opinion in <u>Alderman</u> similarly concerned the timeliness of a claim rather than a statute of limitations, and therefore provides no support to the Fifth District's reasoning in this case.

The Fifth District's opinion in this case only addresses O'Keefe's claim that the court (and not arbitrators) were to rule on the statute of limitations issue. The more general topic of the appeal—the scope of arbitrability—was left unaddressed.

A. The arbitration clause provided for arbitration solely between O'Keefe and the respective property owners.

The court should not have compelled arbitration between O'Keefe and CED, as assignee, because the arbitration agreements prohibited assignment. The court failed to adequately consider whether, as a matter of law, CED, as assignee, could pursue arbitration. In John Wiley & Sons, Inc. v. Livingston, 376 U.S. 543 (1964), the Supreme Court ruled that a court must decide whether a successor in interest was obligated to arbitrate a dispute. In American Safety Equipment Corp. v. J.P. Maguire & Co., 391 F.2d 821 (2d Cir. 1968), the Second Circuit extended this ruling to an assignee of a party to an agreement that permitted assignment only with the consent of the other party. The American Safety court noted the appellant's secondary argument (that even if the assignment was valid, it only transferred the right to receive royalties, not the right to demand arbitration) and directed the trial court on remand to address this issue. The Eighth Circuit has similarly held in I. S. Joseph Company, Inc. v. Michigan Sugar Company, 803 F.2d 396 (8th Cir. 1986) that when a party challenges the appropriateness of arbitrating with an assignee, it brings into question whether there is an agreement between the parties at all, and a court must determine if the assigned claims are to be arbitrated before an arbitrator can decide the merits.

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