IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 05-1417 Lower Tribunal No. 05-651

O'KEEFE ARCHITECTS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

CED CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, LTD.

Respondent.

ON CERTIFICATION OF CONFLICT BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, CED CONSTRUCTION PARTNERS, LTD.

Kevin P. Kelly Timothy L. Hughes GRAY ROBINSON, P.A. Post Office Box 3068 Orlando, FL 32802 Telephone: 407-843-8880 Facsimile: 407-244-5690

- and

KEREY CARPENTER
Florida Bar No.: 0963781
1551 Sandspur Rd.
Maitland, FL
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT, CED

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

This case is on appeal based on a certification from the Fifth District Court of Appeal of a conflict between two cases:

- CED Construction, Inc. v. Kaiser-Taulbee Assoc., Inc., 816 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).
- Reuter Recycling of Florida, Inc. v. City of Dania Beach, 859 So. 2d 1271 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

The Respondent, CED Construction Partners, Ltd. (hereinafter "CED") filed an arbitration claim against O'Keefe Architects, Inc. on two contracts arising out of two construction projects. O'Keefe responded by filing a complaint for declaratory relief with the circuit court. No other pleadings or motions were filed by O'Keefe. In response, CED filed a motion to stay the circuit court action and to compel arbitration. The trial court ruling granting CED's motion to compel arbitration and to stay the circuit court action gives rise to this appeal.

The core issue before this court is whether the trial court, in deciding the legal question of whether the merits of the underlying dispute are arbitrable, should also have resolved what is in effect a fact-intensive affirmative defense, the statute of limitations, i.e., whether CED knew, or should have known of latent design defects more than four years before filing the arbitration claim.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 30, 1997, O'Keefe Architects, Inc. ("O'Keefe") contracted with the owner, Vero Club Partners Limited, to design a 184-unit housing project ("Vero Project"). A copy of this contract is attached as Exhibit A to Petitioner's Appendix 7.

On January 7, 1999, O'Keefe entered a nearly identical contract with another owner, Clearwater Phase I Partners Ltd., to design a 240-unit housing project ("Renaissance Project"). A copy of this agreement is attached as Exhibit "B" to Petitioner's Appendix 7.

Both of the owner-O'Keefe contracts contain the following arbitration clause:

"Claims, disputes or other matters in question between the parties to this Agreement arising out of or relating to this Agreement or breach thereof shall be subject to and decided by arbitration in accordance with the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association currently in effect unless the parties mutually agree otherwise."

(See Exhibits A and B, para. 7.1, to Petitioner's Appendix 7).

The Vero Project was substantially complete in June, 2000. The Renaissance Project was substantially complete in February, 2001. CED Construction Partners Ltd. was the general contractor on both projects.

After discovering latent construction and design defects on their properties, the owners demanded CED fix the problems. CED did so, at its own expense. O'Keefe did not contribute to the remediation.

On June 25, 2002, the owner, Vero Club Partners Limited, executed an assignment of claim, assigning to CED its rights to claim damages for defects resulting in water intrusion. That same day, the owner, Clearwater Phase I Partners Ltd., also executed an assignment of claim, assigning to CED its claim for damages for defects resulting in water intrusion. Both assignments of claim are attached as Exhibit "B" to Petitioner's Appendix 8. The assignments encompass claims the owners would have against O'Keefe.

The same day the assignments were made, CED filed a single demand for arbitration against O'Keefe and several subcontractors for damages arising from the negligent design and construction of both the Vero and Renaissance projects (See Petitioner's Appendix 1). The claimant was designated as "CED Construction Partners, Ltd. and as assignee of the Owner."

¹ The claim was filed with the American Arbitration Association ("AAA").

² All subcontractors have since been dismissed from the case, leaving O'Keefe as the sole respondent.

On April 25, 2003, CED agreed the arbitration of the two projects should be split into two separate arbitration cases (See Petitioner's Appendix 2). Accordingly, on February 2, 2004, the AAA issued an order separating the subcontractor claims from the claims against O'Keefe (See Petitioner's Appendix 4).

On February 12, 2004, the AAA conducted a hearing and made the following rulings: i) the four year statute of limitations applies to damages for design work under the contracts; ii) the causes of action for damages are assignable; and iii) O'Keefe is entitled to two separate arbitration hearings (See Petitioner's Appendix 5). Subsequently, on March 23, 2004, pursuant to the AAA order, CED served an amended demand for arbitration for the Vero Project while maintaining its original demand for arbitration against O'Keefe on the Renaissance Project (See Petitioner's Appendix 6).

O'Keefe then filed a complaint in the Circuit Court in and for Orange County requesting relief declaring that the owners, not CED, must bring the arbitration claims based on the assertion that the contracts were not assignable. (See Petitioner's Appendix 7). On May 24, 2004, CED and the owners responded

_

³ On January 14, 2004, CED confirmed its agreement that the claims against the subcontractors should be heard in a separate arbitration proceeding (See Petitioner's Appendix 3).

in the circuit court with a motion to stay and to compel arbitration (See Petitioner's Appendix 8).

On August 30, 2004, the trial court below held a hearing on CED's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration (See Petitioner's Appendix 9). The court ordered the parties to arbitration, but ordered two separate arbitration proceedings, one for each project. Notably, O'Keefe did not raise at the August hearing the issue of whether CED's arbitration claims are time-barred (See generally, Petitioner's Appendix 9, August 30, 2004, hearing transcript). The parties were unable to agree on the content of a proposed order, resulting from that hearing, despite each parties' possession of a transcript of said hearing.

On January 6, 2005, five months later, an additional hearing was held to resolve the wording of the order (See Petitioner's Appendix 11). No new motions were filed or set for the second hearing. The court again ruled the owners' assignments of claims arising under the agreements to CED were proper and again ruled that two separate arbitration proceedings must be conducted (See Petitioner's Appendix 12). O'Keefe now appeals the resulting written order (See Respondent's Appendix 1).

On March 23, 2005, in the arbitration proceeding, CED sought leave to amend its demand for arbitration for both of the projects to more particularly reflect the claimant as "CED Construction Partners Ltd., individually and as

assignee and subrogee of the claims of the owners, Clearwater Phase I, Ltd. and Vero Club Partners, Ltd." (See Respondent's Appendix 2). This amendment was sought in response to O'Keefe's pleadings gamesmanship regarding which entity is entitled to bring the arbitration claim. ⁴ The amendment would repeat that CED is the assignee of the owners but specifically names the ownership entities.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court has jurisdiction pursuant to *Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure* 9.030(a)(3)(A)(vi). The standard of review is de novo.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

O'Keefe argues the trial court and Fifth District Court of Appeal erred by holding the arbitrators, not the courts, should decide whether CED's arbitration claims are time-barred. The Fifth DCA had held, in a prior opinion, that the issue of whether a demand for arbitration is timely is a question of fact to be decided by the arbitrators, not the trial court. *CED Construction, Inc. v. Kaiser-Taulbee Associates, Inc.*, 816 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). The Fifth DCA has certified

"assignee."

6

⁴ In an attempt to assuage O'Keefe's insistence that the owner's must bring the arbitration in their own names (even though CED was named as "assignee"), CED

reassigned the causes of action back to the respective owners (See Petitioner's Appendix 3). The owners and CED are related business entities. This did not please O'Keefe any more than the prior designation of the claimants as "assignees" so CED reaffirmed the original assignment and continued to maintain its claims as

conflict with Reuter Recycling of Florida Inc. v. The City of Dania Beach, 859 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

Without exception, each of the cases cited by O'Keefe at the Fifth DCA deals with the issue of whether the merits of the arbitration claims fall within the scope of the arbitration clauses or whether a person, e.g., a trust beneficiary or subcontractor, could be forced to arbitrate. Each of those cases involved contract interpretations, to be made as a matter of law by the courts. In compliance with those decisions, the trial court below ruled that the merits of the disputes, i.e, CED's breach of contract claims, were arbitrable. The Fifth DCA properly affirmed.

O'Keefe asserts the trial court should also have adjudicated what is effectively an unpled affirmative defense, i.e., the factual question of whether the arbitration claims were made in a timely manner, more specifically, when CED or the owners "knew or should have known" of the latent defects. This is a factual dispute properly addressed by the arbitrators, not a matter of law for the court.

O'Keefe also asserts, incorrectly, that an anti-assignment clause in its contracts prevents the assignment of claims arising from these contracts. Indeed, both of the O'Keefe contracts contain non-assignment provisions. Florida law, however, is well settled on this issue. A contract term prohibiting assignment prohibits only the assignment of the rights and privileges under the contract but

does *not* prohibit the assignment of a claim arising under the contract. In this case, the owners never assigned their respective agreements to CED. They simply assigned their claims for damages resulting from the latent defects and resulting water intrusion.

O'Keefe further complains it agreed to arbitrate only with the owners and not CED. Settled Florida laws says otherwise. Rights arising under a contract, to include the rights to compel arbitration, are assignable. Arbitration clauses have been found binding on assignees of a contract and properly so.

Lastly, O'Keefe argues, in the face of well-settled, well-reasoned Florida law to the contrary, that a two-year, rather than a four-year, statute of limitation should apply to CED's claims.

ARGUMENT

I. THE AAA IS THE APPROPRIATE BODY TO DECIDE WHETHER CED's ARBITRATION CLAIMS ARE TIME-BARRED

There has been no dispute that the arbitration clause did not require the arbitrators in lieu of a court to decide whether the merits of the dispute were arbitrable. That is what the trial court did; it ruled the merits of the dispute were arbitrable and ruled the statute of limitation defense was arbitrable. The Fifth DCA affirmed the trial court's ruling that the question of when a demand for arbitration has been timely filed is a question of fact to be decided by the arbitrators rather than the trial court. The Fifth DCA specifically relied upon the

decisions in *CED Constr., Inc. v. Kaiser-Taulbee Assoc., Inc.*, 816 So.2d 813 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002); *Pembroke Indus. Park P'ship v. Jazayri Constr., Inc.*, 682 So.2d 226 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996); and *Alderman v. City of Jacksonville Fire & Rescue Div.*, 902 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). The Fifth DCA certified conflict with *Reuter Recycling of Florida Inc. v. The City of Dania Beach*, 859 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

O'Keefe relies on *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v .Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938 (1995), ostensibly to support its argument that courts are to determine not only the question of the arbitrability of the merits, an issue never disputed in this case, but also defenses to CED's claim. O'Keefe misapprehends the holding from *First Option*. The *First Options* decision was a narrow one, addressing *only* the question of who decides whether the parties agreed to arbitrate the merits. *First Options* at 942. *First Options* held that absent an agreement to the contrary, the courts decide who should rule on the arbitrability of the merits. In the case at bar, the arbitration clause did not address whether the arbitrators should decide arbitrability. This is not, nor was it ever, in dispute between O'Keefe and CED.

With all due respect, the Fourth DCA's decision in *Reuter* was based upon a misinterpretation of the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *First Options*. The *First Options* court identified a two-question inquiry for resolving disputes over the arbitrability of claims:

- 1) who decides whether the underlying merits dispute is arbitrable the court or the arbitrators; and
- 2) is the particular merits dispute subject to the arbitration clause?

As to the first question, the only question answered by *First Options*, the court held that absent clear and unmistakable evidence that the parties agreed to arbitrate the very question of who rules on arbitrability, the courts, not the arbitrators, decide whether the merits issue is arbitrable. *First Options*, at 994. In the absence of any dispute between O'Keefe and CED on this first question, by default, the trial court, without objection, properly moved right to the second question. The merits of the dispute, whether O'Keefe breached its contracts, fall squarely within the contracts' arbitration clause and the trial court below properly so ruled.

The *First Options* court did not address the second question at all. To read into that case a rule that, when addressing whether the merits issue is arbitrable, the court must also rule on fact intensive defenses, would be to grossly exaggerate what the court had to say on the second question. That was a question which the court emphasized was not even within the narrow scope of its review.

The *Reuter* court misconstrued *First Options* by failing to appreciate that although the court may be, and frequently is, the body to decide *who should rule* on the arbitrability of a claim, the body deciding *who should rule* is not necessarily the body *who will rule*. The *Reuter* court should have: 1) concluded that, since the

agreement was ambiguous, it was for the court to say who should rule on the arbitrability of the merits issues at hand, then 2) ruled, as a matter of law, on whether the substance of the dispute fell within the scope of the arbitration clause. For the *Reuter* court to suggest the *First Options* decision supports a ruling that defenses, more specifically, the statute of limitations defense, is an issue to be resolved by the courts, is to stretch that ruling far beyond the narrowness of the question the U.S. Supreme Court emphasized it was addressing.

Consider the effect of adopting O'Keefe's assertion. Every affirmative defense which could be raised in an arbitration, would become a factual issue for a court to resolve. Would jury trials, or evidentiary hearings, then be called for as a predicate to arbitrating any claim? This would mangle arbitration proceedings to such an extent⁵ that by pleading a multitude of affirmative defenses, e.g., fraud in the indictment, waiver, estoppel, statutes of limitation, or failure to comply with conditions precedent, a crafty respondent could effectively turn arbitration from a form of private alternative dispute resolution into a hybrid quasi-judicial proceeding.

In contrast to the *Reuter* decision, the *Kaiser-Taulbee* decision did address, albeit briefly, which body should decide whether the demand for arbitration was

⁵ See, *Cardegna v. Buckeye Check Cashing*, 894 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 2005); and *Simpson v. Cohen*, 812 So. 2d 588 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). A broad arbitration clause encompasses claims for fraud in the inducement of the contract.

timely filed. *Kaiser-Taulbee*, at 814. In *Kaiser-Taulbee*, the first inquiry of *First Options*, i.e., who should decide which body should rule on arbitrability, was not disputed. The court then ruled on which body should rule on the timeliness issue – and held it was a question for the arbitrators.

Likewise, in both the *Pembroke* and *Alderman* cases, the issue of who should decide what body should rule on arbitrability was not in dispute. Strictly speaking, *First Options* was not implicated. The court ruled on who should determine arbitrability – and in both cases held the arbitrators should determine whether the claims were timely filed.

O'Keefe's attempt to distinguish *Pembroke* and *Alderman* fails. O'Keefe incorrectly asserts the *Pembroke* case did not involve a statute of limitations issue (See O'Keefe's Initial Brief, page 12). The *Pembroke* opinion clearly states, "Jazayri then filed suit to enjoin the arbitration proceedings alleging they were time-barred by the four-year statute of limitations." *Pembroke*, at 227. The *Pembroke* court made no strained distinction, as O'Keefe attempts to do, between a question of "timeliness" and the statute of limitations.

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